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Anastassios Ch. Antonaras — Alessandra Ricci

THE PATRIARCHAL MONASTERY OF SATYROS IN BITHYNIA.
A BYZANTINE SITE IN THE CONSTANTINOPOLITAN HINTERLAND:
A FIRST REPORT ON THE GLASS FINDS

Iapovoialovral 6@ yia TN POOA TA YvdAva gv-
onfuata Twv avaoxagdy tov 2016 xar 2017 oto uvn-
UELOXO UOVAOTNOLOXO OUYxQOTHUC Zotioov 1 Ava-
téAAovrtog oto Kiiciikyali, otnv axt tov Maouaod/
BiOvvia, to omolo eival avayvwoLouévo ot 16UOnNxE
a0 tov watotdoyn Iyvdtio to 873/74 xal éxavoe va
Aeitovoyel mepi ta uéoa tov 14ov avdva. Ilooxetton
yLoL Yneides, kUrALXOUS VAAOTIVAKES XAl ayyeld, XU-
0l xavTnAes, TOTHOLO XAl XOUTES, TOV emions miba-
VIS YONOLOTOLNONXAY WG XAVTNAES, XAl UTOUXAALCL.

A€Eerg nheldua

Meoopvlavtivi mepiodog, votepofvlavtivi mepiodog, aoxt-
TEXTOVIXRY, valovoyia, uovy Zatvpov 1 AvatéAlovtog, Bi-
Ovvia, Kiiciikyali, KovotavtivoUmoin.

S everal texts indicate that the patriarch of Constanti-
nople Ignatios built a monastery (known as Satyros or
Anatellon) with a katholikon dedicated to the Archangel
Michael on the Bithynian mainland by the Marmara sea-
shore. Furthermore, the texts make clear that the complex
was built outside Constantinople and opposite the Princ-
es’ Islands in the sixth year of the reign of the emperor
Basil 1, that is, 873/74'. The monastery and the church
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The glass finds, predominantly excavated during the 2016
and 2017 campaigns, are presented here for the first time
from the complex at Kiiciikyali (Istanbul) on the shore
of Marmara/Bithynia, which has been identified as the
monumental suburban monastery of Satyros, or Anatel-
lon, founded by patriarch Ignatios around 873/74 and
which functioned until the middle of the 14th century.
The finds comprise glass tesserae, round window panes
and vessels, mainly lamps, beakers and bowls that might
have also been used as lamps, as well as a few flasks.

Keywords

Middle Byzantine period; Late Byzantine period; architec-
ture; glass production; monastery of Satyros, or Anatellon;
Bithynia; Kiigiikyali; Constantinople.

are also described as the finest ones among the network
of monasteries Ignatios built on the Princes’ Islands and
on the Marmara seashore. A survey of the present-day
neighborhood of Kiigiikyali (Greater Municipality of Is-
tanbul), followed by archaeological excavations, brought
to light portions of the katholikon and features of the
monastery now identified with those of Satyros

*% Alessandra Ricci signs the part entitled: “The Site and its Con-
text”.

k. Anastassios Ch. Antonaras signs the part entitled: “The Glass
Finds”.

! Among them, Nicetae Davidis, Vita Ignatii Patriarchae | The life
of Patriarch Ignatius, text and translation by Andrew Smithies, with
notes by J. M. Duffy (CFHB 11), Washington, D. C. 2013, 25-35.
2 For a summary on the identification, A. Ricci, “Rediscovery of
the Patriarchal Monastery of Satyros (Kiigiikyali, Istanbul): Archi-
tecture, Archaeology and Hagiography”, Bizantinistica. Rivista di
studi bizantini e slavi XIX (2018), 347-366.
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Byzantine-period excavations in Istanbul and its
immediate vicinities are not uncommon, though they
are associated largely, if not exclusively, with rescue or
preventive undertakings, catering more to the needs of
modern Istanbul’s rapid and widespread growth across
the Bosphorus into the region of Bithynia than to the re-
quirements of specific research projects. Archaeological
investigations at the site now identified as the monastery
of Satyros represent a rare exception insomuch work cen-
ters on a specific site with a defined research and urban
archaeology project. This means that excavations were
not subject to the time pressure that normally defines
preventive archaeology, allowing time to implement, for
example, stratigraphical excavation, detailed documen-
tation, and study of the finds. This contribution presents
preliminary results of research carried out on some of
the glass finds retrieved at the site. The preliminary con-
siderations are also presented in relation to their archaeo-
logical, architectural, and historical contexts.

The Site and its Context

The surviving portions of the monastic complex con-
sist mainly of an earthen platform with buttressed re-
taining walls measuring circa 69x57 m that formed a
rectangular-in-plan perimeter with visible extensions
to the north-west (Fig. 1). On the platform and above
the section of the cistern that retained its roof, that is,
the eastern portion, the remains of polygonal apses were
visible and were understood as those of an ecclesiasti-
cal building®. The area of the platform was covered with
a layer of topsoil, accumulated since the abandonment
of the medieval site, as well as noticeable areas within
the platform’s topsoil that had been disturbed by mod-
ern activities. A total of eight excavation seasons took
place between 2008 and 2018, centering largely on the
platform*. The survey and excavation campaigns have

3 Description of architectural features and summary of the most
recent archaeological excavations in, A. Ricci, “The Kiiciikyali
ArkeoPark (Istanbul), 2016-2018: Excavation, Conservation, Cul-
tural Heritage and Public Archaeology,” Anatolia Antiqua XXVII
(2019), 255-277 with earlier references.

4 On the discovery and interpretation of the architectural fea-
tures, A. Ricci, “The Kiigiikyali ArkeoPark (Istanbul), 2016-2018”,
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been carried out within the framework of the Kiiciikyali
ArkeoPark Project, run in collaboration with the Istan-
bul Archaeological Museums and under the scientific
coordination of the author. The Kiiciikyali ArkeoPark
Project, which focuses primarily on interdisciplinary ar-
chaeological inquiry, is propaedeutic to the creation of
a sustainable urban archaeological park for the city of
Istanbul and has, from its outset, developed a heritage
awareness vocation as part of its activities>.

The surviving architectural components of the com-
plex thus far identified include a rectangular-in-plan
subterranean water reservoir-oriented east-west and
with the inflow channel to the east; a rectangular-in-plan
buttressed retaining wall which includes the cistern’s
western wall; extensions of the retaining wall document-
ed to the west and to the north; and a manmade earth
platform enclosed by the rectangular-in-plan wall with
remains of buildings (Fig. 2). The underground of the
platform was in parts occupied by a monumental cis-
tern, originally covered by a larger brick dome to the
east and four parallel rows of twenty-eight smaller-sized
domes to the west. Among these components and above
the eastern portions of the water reservoir is the ecclesi-
astical building noted during the first survey. Partial ex-
cavations of the church have revealed a building defined
in its interior by an octagonal dome; a bema with tri-
partite apse; lateral entrances; and a narthex likely con-
nected to an atrium® From an architectural standpoint,
the katholikon building fits within the cross-domed type
with a tripartite sanctuary and isolated northern and
southern apses likely functioning as chapels’. In fact,
the main apse is flanked on both sides by rectangu-
lar-in-plan spaces which did not communicate with the
northern and southern apses. Lateral entrances, of which
the northern one was fully excavated, provided access to

op.cit. (n. 3), 255-277. A. Ricci, “The Kiigiikyal1 ArkeoPark (Istan-
bul), 2014-2015”, Kazt Sonuglart Toplantist 40/1 (Ankara 2019),
79-102.

3> For the ArkeoPark activities, A. Ricci — A. Yilmaz, “Urban Ar-
chaeology and Community Engagement: the Kiiciikyali Arkeo-
Park”, M. D. Alvarez — F. M. Go — A. Yiiksel (eds), Heritage Tour-
ism Destinations: Preservation, Communication and Development,
Oxon 2016, 41-62.

¢ Ricci, “Rediscovery of the Patriarchal Monastery”, op.cit. (n. 2),
368-376.

7 Ibid.
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=

Fig. 1. Kiiciikyali Excavation, 2016 season. General aerial view of the site.

% Kiglkyal ArkeoPark Project Site plan with grid K\
2018 Excavation Season (Drawing by A. Ozsavasci, KYAP Archive) >/

Fig. 2. Kiiciikyalt Excavation, 2018 season. Site plan.
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the building, along with a vanished and more articulat-
ed western entrance. It is recorded that when patriarch
Ignatios died, he was interred in his monastery, outside
the katholikon and “to the right of the main apse” in
October 8778 In the course of the excavation, a sin-
gle-body masonry tomb was revealed on the exterior of
the church. It had been built along the south-eastern wall
of the building between its southern lateral entrance and
the southern apse’. The masonry tomb is significant in
the identification of the church as the katholikon of the
Satyros monastery because of the exact reference made
to it in the Vita Ignatii and the visual rendering of the
monastery dated to the early decades of the 11th cen-
tury, just over a hundred years after the patriarch had
been interred there, contained in the Menologion of Ba-
sil IT'°, In it, the left of the composition is dominated by
a circular building with a dome resting on a windowed
drum and a smaller structure adjoining it. Other build-
ings portrayed in the miniature include a long, arcaded
structure with the elongated body of the patriarch re-
clining in front and a rectangular court whose short end
is marked by a tall building. The recently ascertained
monumental size of the church’s dome, the physical lay-
out of what appears to be an arcaded court or portico,
the presence of one if not two taller tower-like buildings
and the existence of a courtyard are all elements identi-
fied both archaeologically and in the miniature.

It is known that the Satyros monastery was still op-
erating in the 12th century when it was recorded as a
metochion of the imperial Pantokrator monastery in
Constantinople!’. Numismatic evidence tells us the site

8 Smithies, Nicetae Davidis, op.cit. (n. 1), 76, 19-27.

? Ricci, “Rediscovery of the Patriarchal Monastery”, op.cit. (n. 2), 375.
0 For the miniature of the monastery of Satyros, see El “Menologio
de Basilio II”, Emperado de Bizancio. Citta del Vaticano, Biblioteca
apostolica vaticana, Vat. Gr. 1613 : libro de estudios con ocasion de
la edicion facsimil, ed. by F. D’Aiuto, Vatican City 2005, 134. For the
manuscript’s on-line facsimile, https://digi.vatlib.it/view/MSS_Vat.
¢r.1613. On the interpretation of the miniature, Ricci, “Rediscovery of
the Patriarchal Monastery”, op.cit. (n. 2), 375, with earlier bibliography.
11«28, Pantokrator: Typikon of Emperor John II Komnenos for the
Monastery of Christ 725 Pantokrator in Constantinople”, transl.
by R. Jordan, J. Thomas — A. Constantinides Hero (eds), Byzantine
Monastic Foundation Documents: A Complete Translation of the
Surviving Founders’ Typika and Testaments (Dumbarton Oaks
Studies 35), 2, Washington, D. C. 2000, 725-780, in part. 771.
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was still functioning in the early decades of the 14th
century, after which it seems to have been abandoned'?.
Hence, current research sees the final abandonment of
the complex at around the middle of the 14th century.
No signs of violence have been detected in the area or
material finds dating to the Ottoman periods (Fig. 3).
In 1988, construction work for a mosque (Cinar Camii)
on the edge of the monastic site revealed the southern
perimeter wall of the rectangular-in-plan platform. The
double-tiered, buttressed southern side of the platform’s
retaining wall was brought to light during construction
works for the mosque by means of a bulldozer, with no
records of the activities. However, the south-eastern
corner of the platform was the focus of archaeological
explorations, which revealed, together with a square-in-
plan tower, a sealed “chamber” to its west. This space is
rather small in size and rectangular-in-plan, measuring
ca. 1.3x5 m with a SW-NE orientation. Here, excavations
allowed the documentation of a stratigraphical sequence
of four major phases, with glass finds retrieved in sev-
eral of the phases'®. The top layer of the “chamber” was
represented by an extremely well-preserved roof collapse
(Stratigraphical Unit/US 1074) with a high density of
roof tiles and some glass vessels, bowl lamps (A.1.IIa,b)
and window panes (B). Underneath the roof collapse
was noted what has been interpreted as a discard or re-
fuse action (US 1202-1204) with predominantly Glazed
White Wares IV, many of which were restored with their
complete profiles; amphorae pieces; bronze and lead ob-
jects; glass fragments including vessels [lamps, stemmed
(A.1.I) and bowls (A.1.II), beakers and bowls (A.2) and
flasks (A.3.IV)] and window panes (B); and, marble sec-
tilia and small-sized polychrome fresco fragments. These
layers are dated to the 12th-13th century on the basis of
pottery finds. As for the interpretation of the space, it

12 Two well-preserved silver coins (Andronikos II, 1282-1328, and
Andronikos I1I, 1328-1341) above the “chamber” in the platform, A.
Ricci, “Left behind: Small Sized Objects from the Middle Byzantine
Monastic Complex of Satyros (Kiigiikyali, Istanbul)”, B. Bohlen-
dorf-Aslan — A. Ricci (eds), Byzantine Small Finds in Archaeological
Contexts, BYZAS 15(2012), 147-162, in part. 157-158, figs 11, 12.
B3 A. Ricci — R. Wohmann, “Constantinopolitan Contexts: pre-
liminary remarks on the ceramics and archaeology at the Kiiciik-
yali ArkeoPark Project”, F. Yenisehirlioglu (ed.), XI Congress
AIECM3 on Medieval and Modern Period Mediterranean Ce-
ramics Proceedings, 1, Ankara 2018, 453-458.
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Fig. 3. Kiiciikyalt Excavation. Glass, pottery, metal finds and amphorae stoppers from the area
around the katholikon’s northern lateral entrance (US2627 ).

is possible it may have functioned as a storage/deposit
room in its initial phases of use. After the roof collapse
(US 1074), the space was likely used to conceal materi-
al originating from the nearby monastic church, such as
the opus sectile floors, architectural sculpture and other
objects that can now be associated with the ecclesiastical
building, with most of them dating to the construction
phase of the katholikon'.

On the opposite side, the north-eastern side of the
platform was excavated and yielded a Late Byzantine
phase of the complex. This centered around a porous
calcareous floor with a wall made of irregularly cut
stones and mortar. The floor had embedded in it, in a
secondary use, an unusually large Guhsenin IV ampho-
ra's, Above portions of the floor, a thick tiled roof col-
lapse with a posthole indicated the presence of a roof-
ing system, which took advantage of the earlier Middle
Byzantine platform’s eastern portico. The underlying
stratum next to the calcareous floor contained a refusal
deposit filled (US 1510 and 1515) with large quantities

4 Ricci, “The Kiigiikyal1 ArkeoPark (Istanbul), 2016-2018”, op.cit.
(n. 3), 260-262.

5 N. Giinsenin — A. Ricci, “Les amphores Giinsenin IV a Kiiciik-
yalt: Un voyage entre monasteres?”, Anatolia Antiqua XXVI
(2018), 125-139.
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of discarded material such as animal bones, shells, glass
fragments of bowls (A.1.II), and domestic pottery and
tableware of the 12th-13th centuries. A dating for this
domestic context as late as the mid-14th century seems
possible.

Another area of the monastic platform which yielded
glass finds is the area on the exterior of the katholikon,
to the north and north-east, by the northern lateral en-
trance to the church, which was built concurrently with
the ecclesiastical building. There, excavations came to
the following conclusions: it is likely that in the Mid-
dle Byzantine period, and as the ecclesiastical building
was functioning, the area between the northern apse of
the monastic church and the lateral entrance may have
served as a burial space. At the moment, one masonry
burial and possibly two or more very disturbed burials
in wooden coffins have been detected. In later Byzantine
times, likely from the 12th —early 13th century, the area
in question was used for production and/or storage pur-
poses. The stratigraphical sequence can be summarized
as follows: a widespread layer of abandonment in this
area (US 2602) showed high percentages of Byzantine
amphorae (Giinsenin 1V) and lesser quantities of roof
tiles and brick fragments. Underneath this layer is a dis-
tinctively Late Byzantine layer (US 2627) with amphorae
fragments (Fig. 3); Late Byzantine pottery; small metal
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finds (lead seals; lead wickers holders; and copper but-
tons and dress accessories). Underneath this layer and
partly disrupted by it, the earlier use phase of the area
revealed the presence of at least two human skeletons
(US 2612); other scattered human remains; sets of metal
nails likely originating from wooden coffin(s); and, vast
quantities of glass fragments: circular window panes (B);
several lamps (A.1I), bowls (A.Ila,b,c,d) and beakers.
The layer appears to be contemporaneous with the Mid-
dle Byzantine period of life of the church!e.

The fourth and final area with glass finds discussed
in this contribution is the katholikon, where two ar-
eas were excavated, portions of the naos and a chapel
that was discovered in the north-western corner of the
building. The naos, revealed in part during the exca-
vation campaigns, is confirmed as the largest space of
the building with no surviving traces of the dome struc-
ture. The second area inside the katholikon corresponds
roughly to a newly revealed lateral apsidal chapel. The
chapel preserves traces of marble flooring and, on the
lower level of the walls, traces of marble slab revetments.
In the center of the space, a rectangular-in-plan floor
opening (circa 160x0.80 m) contained a marble slab
with a circular hole in its fill. The fill also yielded a dec-
orated marble corner cornice with the Greek inscrip-
tion “Aevyp” (might be read as: “Aeiypavov” [relics]). The
spade-shaped leaves pattern observed on the inscribed
piece recurs on twenty-three more fragments discovered
in the chapel, some of which showed traces of cobalt blue
color pigments. This small chapel may have contained
relics, and this possibility should not be excluded!’.
The stratigraphy of the katholikon showed intense spo-
liation, which likely took place in the Late Byzantine
period and in early Modern times, a low percentage
of ceramic materials and small sporadic presence of
loose mosaic tesserae. On the other hand, work inside
the chapel showed a slightly different composition, with
high percentages of mosaic tesserae. Some of them were
on their mortar support. In general, the mosaic tesserae
and their supports appear heavily corroded and poor-
ly preserved, with small fragments of wall mosaics that

10 Ricci, “The Kiigiikyal1 ArkeoPark (Istanbul), 2016-2018”, op.cit.
(n. 3), 257-260.

17 Ricci, “The Kiigiikyal1 ArkeoPark (Istanbul), 2014-2015”, op.cit.
(n. 4), 85-87.
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emerged in the lower level of the chapel’s fill. One of the
retrieved mosaic fragments showed the representation of
a human eye executed in micro-mosaic technique'®.

The following are preliminary considerations resulting
from a three-day visit to the site in September 2016 at
the formal invitation of the Project’s scientific coordina-
tor and an additional week-long visit in September 2017,
funded by the National Centre of Scientific Research
“Demokritos”. During the two visits, it was possible to
study some materials from the 2010 excavations, with a
focus on the 2016 and 2017 seasons.

The Glass Finds

Glass finds have been sporadically unearthed from the
very beginning of the excavations on the site, including
fragments of window panes, stemmed beakers and mo-
saic tesserae.

Form Stratigraphical | Find Area
Unit (US)

A. Vessels US 1204, 2612, Tower Area,

A1l. Lamps 2626 Church Area

I. Stemmed Lamps

Al. Lamps US 1074, 1200, Tower Area,

II. Handled Bowls |[1201, 1202, 1203, |Church Area
2408, 2612, 2616

A.2. Beakers and | US 1074, 1200, 1201, | Tower Area,

Bowls 1202, 1203, 1502, |Church Area,

1504, 1510, 1515 | Platform

A.3. Flasks US 1073, 1204, Tower Area,
2626 Church Area

B. Window Panes |US 1074, 1200, Tower Area,
1201, 1202, 1203, |Church Area
2626, Q.H6

C. Miscellanea US 1515 Platform

During the 2016 and 2017 excavation seasons, glass
was unearthed both inside the church as well as outside
it on the monastic platform. In total, glass was recovered
from four areas: Church Area (H5, H6, H7), Church (F7,
G7), Tower Area (A3) and Platform Area (I12-13), de-
posited within 37 ‘lots’/plastic bags. 748 fragments have

'8 Ibid., 88.
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been counted, of which at least 260 (i.e. more than 1/3)
belong to circular window panes, which were part of ap-
proximately ten windows. It has been estimated that 161
glass objects comprised the total of the findings: ca. 150
vessels, 10 window panes and one ‘tile’.

The finds comprise almost exclusively free-blown ob-
jects. Only one fragment seems to be optic-blown, bear-
ing some faint oblique ribbing. The finds can be divided
into four main groups: vessels, window panes, decorative
tiles and mosaic tesserae.

A. Vessels

The following types of vessels have been identified: 1.
Lamps; 2. Beakers and Bowls; and 3. Flasks.

1. Lamps (Figs 4-7)

I. Stemmed lamps: Plain cylindrical, twisted and bead-
ed solid stems, mostly bluish ones that can be associat-
ed with fire-polished vertical rim fragments (Figs 4, 7).
Only one of them is preserved enough to be graphically
reconstructed. Stemmed lamps appear in the 6th centu-
ry, and they remained in use throughout the Byzantine
era. The earlier examples have hollow, cylindrical lower
parts, and solid stems are known from at least the mid-
dle of the 7th century onwards'. At Satyros monastery

1 M. Uboldi, “Diffusione delle lampade vitree in eta tardoantica e
altomedievale e spunti per una tipologia”, Archeologia Medievale
22 (1995), 93-145, in part. 120-124, forms IV.1, 2. A. Antonaras,
“Glass Lamps of the Roman and Early Christian Periods: Evidence
from the Thessaloniki Area”, by C.-A. Roman — N. Gudea (eds),
Lychnological Acts 2: Trade and Local Production of Lamps from
the Prehistory until the Middle Age. Acts of the 2nd International
Congress on Ancient and Middle Age Lighting Devices ( Zaldu-
Cluj-Napoca, 13th-18th of May 2006 ), Cluj-Napoca 2008, 23-30,
in part. 26, form 5. Idem, Glassware and Glassworking in Thes-
saloniki 1st Century BC — 6th Century AD, Oxford 2017, 87-89,
form 38a, b, with bibliography. B. Y. Olcay, “Lighting Methods in
the Byzantine Period and Findings of Glass Lamps in Anatolia”,
JGS 43(2001), 77-88, in part. 80-83, figs 1-3. U. Ozgiimiis “Byzan-
tine Glass Finds in the Roma Theater at Iznik (Nicaea)”, BZ 101
(2004), 727-735, in part. 731, type 5. R. Pirling, “Die romischen
und byzantinischen Glasfunde von Apamea in Syrien”, AnnAIHV
7 (1977), 137-147, in part. 146, fig. 5. S. Jennings, Archaeology
of the Beirut Souks 2: Vessel Glass from Beirut: BEY 006, 007
and 045, Berytus Archaeological Studies XLVIII-XLIX (Beirut,
Lebanon 2004-2005), 142-144, 276-277, fig. 6.16:1-11, 11.26:4-5.
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they have been found in layers dated to the 10th — 13th
centuries A.D. More specifically, the archaeological con-
text in the tower area represents a deposit with chrono-
logically mixed materials. The finds from the church area
come from Middle and Late Byzantine periods layers.

I1. Handled Bowls (Figs 6-9): Among the finds, the
following are identified: (a) Smaller greenish and bluish
handles of probably conical bowls; (b) part of a larger
bowl with a seemingly globular body and small handles
with long wavy endings which extend towards the bot-
tom; and, (¢) an almost fully preserved bluish lamp with
a wide conical body, flat bottom, a possibly outturned
rim and three handles around the upper body; recovered
to the north of the church, along with many fragments
of window panes. Three-handled hemispherical and
truncated conical bowls are known from the 4th century
through the Middle and Late Byzantine period®. (d) Fi-
nally, a hollow, bead-like fragment probably represents
part of the stem of a stemmed beaker, possibly a lamp.
Stemmed beakers appear from the Sth century and they
are occasionally equipped with three small handles and
used as hanging lamps?. At Satyros monastery handled
bowls have been found in a wide range of layers dated
from the 10th- mid-14th centuries A.D.

D. Foy, “Un atelier de verrier a Beyrouth au début de la conquéte
islamique”, Syria 77 (2000), 239-290, in part. 244-245, figs 4:1-10,
5, 6:1-18, 7. G. R. Davidson, The Minor Objects (Corinth XII: Re-
sults of Excavations Conducted by the American School of Clas-
sical Studies at Athens) Princeton, N. J. 1952, 121, no. 802, pl. 60.
20 C. Isings, Roman Glass from Dated Finds (Archaeologica
traiectina 2), Groningen 1957, 162, form 134. M. Sternini, “II ve-
tro in Italia tra V-IX secolo”, D. Foy (ed.), Le verre de I’ Antiquité
tardive et du haut Moyen Age : typologie — chronologie — diffu-
sion, Association francaise pour I'archéologie du verre, VIIle ren-
contres (Guiry-en-Vexin, 18-19 novembre 1993 ), Guiry-en-Vexin
1995, 243-290, in part. 259, 261-262, fig. 17:19-22. Ead., “Le verre
de la fin du IVe au Vlle siecle en France méditerranéenne : Premier
essai de typo-chronologie”, ibid., 187-242, 197, 206-207, 211. Ubol-
di, “Diffusione delle lampade”, op.cit. (n. 19). Antonaras, “Glass
Lamps of the Roman”, op.cit. (n. 19). Davidson The Minor Ob-
jects, op.cit. (n. 19), 111-112, nos 724, 726, 733, 734, fig. 14, dated
there from the 11th to the mid-12th century A.D.

2 Uboldi, “Diffusione delle lampade”, op.cit. (n. 19), 124-125,
form V. Antonaras, Glassware and Glassworking in Thessaloniki,
op.cit. (n. 19), 167-169, form 36 = 2017, p. 84, with exhaustive
bibliography.
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Fig. 4. Kiiciikyalt Excavation. Glass finds. Stemmed lamps, fragments, 12th-13th  Fig. 5. Kiiciikyali Excavation. Glass finds.
and mid-14th centuries A.D. Stems of stemmed lamps, drawings (cf. Fig. 4).
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Fig. 7. Kiiciikyali Excavation. Glass finds. Upper bod-
Fig. 6. Kiiciikyali Excavation. Glass finds. Handled lamps and handled ies of stemmed lamps and stemmed beakers, drawings
bowls, fragments, 12th-13th and mid-14th centuries A.D. (cf- Figs 4,6).
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Fig. 8. Kiiciikyalt Excavation. Glass finds. Beakers and bowls, fragments,

12th-13th century A.D.

2. Beakers and Bowls (Figs 7, 8)

Among the fragments ascribed to beakers and/or bowls,
the largest group comprises fire-polished rims of vari-
ous conical vessels whose rim diameters range from 5
to 11 cm. In addition, a bottom fragment of a wide ves-
sel, probably a bowl standing on a flattened ring base,
has been identified. Furthermore, stemmed beakers are
represented by a few solid stems on conical bases. One
conical base might present a Late-Antique intrusion, or
it could belong to a lamp of an earlier form. Stemmed
beakers appear from the 5th century, and from the 6th
century onwards they are made either of one or two
masses of glass; over the centuries, the shape of the stem
varies considerably?. The finds fit well with other Mid-
dle Byzantine finds. Hemispherical bowls are equally
widely distributed in Late Antiquity*, and both forms

2 Isings, Roman Glass from Dated Finds, op.cit. (n. 20), 139-140,
form 111. Antonaras, Glassware and Glassworking in Thessaloni-
ki, op.cit. (n. 19), 82-83, 85-87 forms 35, 37. Idem, Fire and Sand:
Ancient Glass in the Princeton University Art Museum, Princeton
2012, 139, nos 192, 193.

2 Isings, Roman Glass from Dated Finds, op.cit. (n. 20), 113-116,
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Fig. 9. Kiiciikyali Excavation. Glass finds.
Handled lamps, 12th-13th and mid-14th cen-
turies A.D., drawings. (cf. Fig. 6).

are well-represented among Middle Byzantine contexts
and depictions®. At Satyros monastery they have been
found in all excavation areas discussed here with layers
dated to the 10th — mid-14th century A.D.

3. Flasks (Fig. 10)

A few flask fragments have been identified.

(a) A cylindrical blue flask with white thread marv-
ered spirally around it. This marvered decoration ap-
pears predominantly on flasks and bowls between the
11th and 14th centuries, mostly ascribed to Syrian 11th
—13th-century workshops?. (b) A slightly greenish,

forms 96a-b. Antonaras, Glassware and Glassworking in Thessa-
loniki, op.cit. (n. 19), 118-124, forms 12i, 12ii.

24 A. Antonaras, “Early Christian and Byzantine glass vessels:
forms and uses”, F. Daim —J. Drauschke (eds), Byzanz- das Romer-
reich im Mittelalter, 1. Welt der Ideen, Welt der Dinge, Darmstadt
2010, 383-430, in part. 402, 413-416.

25 S. Carboni — D. Whitehouse, Glass of the Sultans (exhibition
catalogue), New York 2001, 142-144, nos 58, 59, ascribed to 13th
century Syria. S. Carboni, Glass from Islamic Lands. The Al-
Sabah Collection, New York 2001, 310-313, 319, cat. nos 83a-c,
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Fig. 10. Kiigiikyali Excavation. Glass finds. Flasks, fragments, middle and late Byzantine period.

transparent vessel with a fine cobalt blue thread wound
spirally around it; no Middle or Late Byzantine parallels
have been found, but these blue threads are quite charac-
teristic of 7th- and 8th-century Syro-Palestinian produc-
tion?. (c) A transparent colorless, bluish body fragment
with faint ribbing. (d) One pushed-in ring base and the
rims of two flasks. Barrel-shaped body, pushed-in ring
base and slightly concave bottom. Probably a flask from
a layer dated to the 12th- mid-14th century A.D.

B. Window panes (Fig. 11)

Fine, mostly bluish, and rarely greenish, free blown discs
have been unearthed. Their diameter ranges between 19
and 23 cm. The perimeter of the panes is either plain,
fire-polished, slightly upturned, forming a vertical rim,
or folded and flattened. In addition, three fragments of
a thicker, olive-green pane have been recovered, and in
one of them, the center of the disc was preserved, as indi-
cated by the pontil scar, i.e. “bull’s eye”. Circular window
panes of various diameters were already in use in the
6th century?’, used together with rectilinear pieces in the

84, 3.66-3.67. For a recent overview of this decoration in Islamic
glassware, see N. Brosh, “Mamluk Glass Workshops in Jerusalem
— Marvered Glass”, R. A. Stucky — O. Kaelin — H.P. Mathys (eds),
Proceedings of 9th ICAANE, Basel 2016, 909-920. S. Hadad Ex-
cavations at Bet Shean, 2. Islamic Glass Vessels from the Hebrew
University at Bet Shean (Qedem Reports 8), Jerusalem 2005, 123,
pl. 17, wherein many Ummayad examples.

2 Foy, “Un atelier de verrier”, op.cit. (n. 19), 263-268, figs 18, 19.
O. Dussart, Le verre en Jordanie et en Syrie du Sud, IFAPO, Bey-
routh 1998, form BX. 3241b, dated on p. 146.

¥ D. Foy (ed.), De transparentes spéculations : vitres de I’ Antiquité
et du haut Moyen age, Occident-Orient : exposition temporaire

352

6th and 7th centuries as in Sarachane, Istanbul®. In the
MiddleandLateByzantineperiod,circular window panes
were widely used, covering the series of circular open-
ings created on stone or plaster frames?®’. Published glass
finds of that period include Amorium?’, Corinth3!, My-
ra*?, Sardis®, Anaia4, Kubadabad®’, Hagios Panteleimon

en liaison avec les 20émes Rencontres de 'AFAV sur le theme
du verre plat (Musée-site archéologique, Bavay-Bagacum, 01-10-
2005 au 31-12-2005) (exhibition catalogue), Bavay: Musée-site
d’archéologie 2005, 112.

2 R. M. Harrison — M. V. Gill, “The window glass”, R. M. Har-
risson (ed.), Excavations at Sarachane in Istanbul, 1. The exca-
vations, Structures, architectural decoration, small finds, coins,
bones and mollusques, Princeton 1986, 204-206.

2 R. Ousterhout, Master Builders of Byzantium, Princeton, N. J.
1999, 151-154.

M. A. V. Gill, Amorium reports. Finds I, Oxford 2002, 112, 827-
839, 841-842, fig. 1/32 597-611, fig. 2/43. The Amorium findings
date back to A.D. 850-950 when the church in the settlement was
rebuilt, ibid., 263.

3! Davidson, The Minor Objects, op.cit. (n. 19), 143-145, pls 73:
1061-1065 (11th and middle of the 12th centuries).

2 B. Y. Olcay, Antalya’nin Demre (Kale) Ilcesindeki Aziz Nikola-
os Kilisesi Kazist 1989-1995 Yillart Cam Buluntular: (Hacettepe
Universitesi Yayinlanmamig Doktora Tezi), 1997, pls XVII:165-
177, XX VIII/:178-184, XXIX:185-192, 11th-13th century.

3 A. von Saldern, Ancient and Byzantine Glass from Sardis, Cam-
bridge, MA —London 1980, 98-102, in part. 101, 13th-century finds.
3 Z. O. Cakmakg1, “Anaia Camciliginin Geg¢ Bizans Diinyasindaki
Yer / The Place of the Anaian Glass Production in the Late Byzan-
tine Glassworld”, Z. Mercangéz (ed.), Byzantine Craftsmen — Latin
Patrons. Reflections from the Anaian Commercial Production in the
Light of the Excavations at Kadikalesi near Kusadas, Istanbul 2013,
135-152, in part. 148-149, fig. VIII-11, 12. Crown glass, 13th century.
Greenish, bluish, and reddish circular panes from a variety of churches.
3 A 13th-century Seljuk palace. See Z. Uysal, Kubad-Abad Sarayin-
da Selcuklu Cam Sanati (1981-2004) (Ph.D. diss.), Ege Universite-
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Fig. 11. Kiigiikyali Excavation. Window panes, late 9th cen-
tury A.D.
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in Thessaloniki*, the Chilandar Monastery at Mount
Athos?’, Gracanica®®, Kosmosoteira at Pheres®’, Prangi at
Evros*, Pammakaristos* and the Pantokrator Monas-
tery in Istanbul*

At Satyros monastery they have been found in layers
dated to the 12th —mid-14th centuries A.D., their produc-
tion date though should be connected to the foundation
date of the monastery in the late 9th century. It is inter-
esting to note that the window panes are predominantly
found either in deposit layers or in layers associated with
the early phases of the life of the monastic complex.

C. Other finds / Miscellanea

1. Decorative tiles

One rectangular, flat piece of dark bluish green glass,
trimmed all around, is the only find at Kiiciikyali which
attests to some other use of this material on the site (Fig.
12). This piece of glass, which originally might have be-
longed to either a window pane or to the flat bottom of
a wide vessel, e.g. a plate or a disc, was probably used
secondarily as an intarsia tile in the decoration of some
unspecified object*. The glass finds conclude with one

si, Sosyal Bilimler Enstitiisii, [zmir 2008, 275-332, cat. nos 191-249.
% A. Antonaras, Works from the collection of the Museum of Byzan-
tine Culture. The Art of Glass, Thessaloniki 2019, 281-283, no. 442.
37 A. Antonaras, “Old and Recent Finds of Byzantine Glass from
Northern Greece”, Glasnik Srpskog Arheoloskog Drustva 25
(2009), 83-101, in part. 91, pl. IV:6,7.

%S, Cur¢ié, Gracanica: King Milutin’s Church audits Place in
Late Byzantine Architecture, Pennsylvania State University Press,
University Park, PA 1979, 61-62, figs 64, 77, 78, early 14th century.
¥ R. G. Ousterhout — C. Bakirtzis, The Byzantine Monuments of the Ev-
ros/Meri¢ River Valley, Thessaloniki 2007, 59, 60, dated to A.D. 1152.
40 Tbid., 156-58, dated to the second half of the 13th century.

4l H. Hallensleben,“Untersuchungen zur Baugeschichte der ehema-
ligen Pammakaristoskirche, der heutigen Fethiye Camii in Istan-
bul”, IstMitt 13-14 (1963-1964), 128-93, in part. 180-81 and fig.
11, dated to the Palaiologan period.

# (. Canav-Ozgiimiis — S. Kanyak, “Recent Glass Finds from Pan-
tocrator Church in Istanbul”, 1. Lazar (ed.), Annales du 19e Con-
gres dell’ Association pour I’Histoire du verre, Koper 2012, 350-
356, in part. 350-353, figs 1-3, wherein older bibliography. Dated
to the early 12th century.

4 For Middle Byzantine glass intarsia from Constantinople, see
M. Mundell Mango, “Polychrome tiles found at Istanbul: typology,
chronology, and function”, Sh. E. J. Gerstel — J. A. Lauffenburger
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Fig. 12. Intarsia “tile”, mid-14th century A.D.

opaque dark green, oval, planoconvex gem, circa 1.7x1.2
cm*, It was found in a mid-14th-century layer.

2. Mosaic tesserae

Thousands of loose glass tesserae were unearthed in the
area under the central dome of the church in 2017. Al-
most equal quantities of tesserae were collected from the
churchareaduring the 2016 campaign and a smaller quan-
tity in 2015. The following colors were identified: opaque
green, green-yellow, yellow, turquoise, dark blue, “black”
and red glass. In addition, a number of gold glass tesserae
and a few white, marble ones were recovered* (Fig. 13).

(eds), Lost Art Rediscovered: The Architectural Ceramics of
Byzantium, Pennsylvania University Park Press, University Park,
PA 2001, 24-25, figs 6-8, and some others from Thessaloniki. A.
Antonaras, Arts, Crafts and Trades in Ancient and Byzantine
Thessaloniki. Archaeological, Literary and Epigraphic Evidence,
Mainz 2016, 49, fig. 26.

# For an overview of large-sized glass gems, see A. Antonaras,
“A Special Group of Early Christian Glass ‘Gems’ from Greece”,
D. Rosenow — M. Phelps — A. Meek — 1. Freestone (eds), Things
that travelled — Mediterranean glass in the first millennium AD,
London 2018, 1-21.

4 Samples from vessels and tesserae from the excavation of the church
and of the church area are currently under chemical examination,
and the preliminary results were presented in detail at the 22nd
International Congress of the International Association for the
History of Glass in September 2021.
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Fig. 13. Kiigiikyali Excavation. Glass tesserae from the interior
of the katholikon.

The mosaic finds of 2017 have been extensively ana-
lyzed: a total of 3767.5 g of tesserae were recovered. 98%
are opaque glass tesserae, and only 2% are gold glass ones.
After calculating the average weight of each group, the
number of tesserae per m? and extracting the surface cov-
ered by the seams among them, we have come up with the
result that they represent a 9.13 m?surface of opaque col-
ored tesserae and 0.483 m? of golden ones. In addition, the
well-known practice of painting the plaster red under the
gold-glass tesserae was established in several fragments.

Special note should be made of three fragments which
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were composed of tiny tesserae. There is a fragment
preserved on the plaster, which is made of tiny tesser-
ae, each 0.1x0.3 cm, probably rendering the rectangular
corner of five parallel bands, alternating between white
and black.

Also, part of the eye of a human face is preserved,
which is made with slightly smaller tesserae. There is
a third fragment with an indiscernible motif, probably
consisting of a row of parallel ovals.

Conclusions

The importance of the glass finds presented here does
not concern their rarity or good state of preservation.
On the contrary, almost all of them are small fragments
of common, plain, undecorated utilitarian vessels and
of window panes. Almost all of them fit within the
operation period of the complex, i.e. between the late
9th and 10th centuries of the first phase of the com-
plex and the second half of the 12th to the first half of

AXAEMI” (2022), 343-356

the 14th centuries during the complex’s final phase. The
finds discussed here, although not numerous at the mo-
ment, are extremely important, because they document
the nature of glass circulation in the Constantinopoli-
tan region during the Middle and early Late Byzantine
periods. Furthermore, several of the finds are part of
well-preserved archaeological contexts, a rare instance
for Byzantine Constantinople. Finally, this is one of the
first instances in which all of the glass finds originate
from a cohesive architectural context with firm chronol-
ogies and from systematic excavations taking place in
the wider Constantinopolitan area. Study of the mate-
rials sheds light on the otherwise unknown variety of
glass objects used in a monastic complex in the area of
the Byzantine capital.

Ilustration credits

© Kiigiikyali ArkeoPark Project (KYAP Archive). Fig. 1: Drone
image by Tugrul Oktas. Fig. 2: Plan by Arzu Ozsavasci and Ales-
sandra Ricci. Figs 3, 4, 7, 9-11: Photographs by Domenico Ventura.
Figs 5, 6, 8: Drawings by Rahman Uske and Anastassios Antonaras.
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H ITATPIAPXIKH MONH ZATYPOY >ZTA ITAPAAIA THX BIOYNIAZ2.
MIA BYZANTINH GEZH 2TA TTEPIXQPA TH KONZTANTINOYITOAH2:
[TPOKATAPKTIKH ANA®OPA T'TA TA I'YAAINA EYPHMATA

To LOVAOTNOLORG CUYRQOTNUC OTNV CLOLOLTIXY OLXTH
Tov gvpUTtepov Afuov Kwvotavtivovmdheme, otny me-
owoyn Kiiciikyali, €yel tavtiotel ue ™ povi Zativpov 1
AvoTéMLOVTOC, apLEQMUEVT OTOV aOYAYYELO Muyanh,
mov 1WEUON®E amd tov matoldeyn Iyvdtio to 873/74.
"Eyovv amoraAvgdel tuiuata Tov ®e0ohixov not GAA
aOYLTEXTOVIXG OTOLYElD TOV oVYyRQOTHUATOS To ®naBo-
AMuO HTOV VS ORTAYMVIROGS VOGS UE TOLUEQES LEQD TTOU
%©TlOTNXE 08 VIEQUYPWUEVO 0000YDVIO XOUATIVO TAG-
TWUOL, TO 0700 TEQIPAMAEL UVNUELAHAS TO YOS EVIOYVUE-
vog e avtneides. To o T®TEQO TUHUO TOV TACATWUATOS
rataloupdver neydin xwvotéova (Ew. 1, 2). H novi,
OUUQPMOVO UE TO. OQYULOAOYLRE EVONUATA, EYRATOUAEL-
@ONre eloNVIRd YUpw ota néoa tov 14ov addva (Eux. 3).

v taeovoo ueEAET ToQovoLdlovTal To YudALva
EVONUALTO TTOV EVIOTIOTNUAY OTLS AVALOROAWMES TOV Y M-
00V 0o dLrd 0€ ToAaLOTEQX €11 RO RV IWE TO 2016
xno 2017, 6tav eviomiot)rayv 748 Boaiouato 0To E0M-
TEQXO TOV ®aBOAKOU %L 0TovV mEQIRAALOVTA YO
tov. TovAdylotov ta 260 avijrovv og megimov déxa ®v-
xAwrovc varomivares (Ewx. 11). Ta vtéhouta avixovy
oe epimov 150 ayyela, ta omoia, ue v eEalpeon evdg,
elval rataoxevaouévo ue elevbepmn eugpuvonom. Exiong,
evromioTnray dtaroountind otowyelo vat Yneides. Ta
ayyelo eivar ravtihec (ue paxey xuhvdnd otéheyoc
(Ewt. 4, 5, 7) 1| ue exinedn pdon xat toeic hapéc (Ew. 6,
8), motioLa xo xoumeg, prrovrdia (oguouéva dlaxo-
ounuéva pe emiBeteg Eyxomueg (veg) (Ew. 6, 9, 10). Ou
vahomivaxres elivor Aemtol yahalwmol | ordvia meaot-
vorot dionol ue dtaueteo 19-23 ex., ®RUTAOREVAOUEVOL
ue ehevBen enpUonon raL eplyeiloua avadtAmuévo
1 odvio oTMmwuévo ue tupdxtmon (Ew. 11).

Axdun, evromiotre €va enimedo TURUO TEACIVMITOU
ayyelov IOV TEQIXOTNRE O 0PBOYWDVIO OYHUC KO ETTOL-
vayenowomrombnxe wg €voeto dtaroountivd oe ®vnTd
avtelipevo (B, 12). Téhog, xhddec Yyngidec amoxa-
Migbnxav to 2017 otov X0 Tov %eEVTOLROU TEOVAOV,
eve ueydieg moodtnteg ovveléynoay xat to 2015 nat
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2016 (Ewt. 13). Ataxp{voviol oL ToQOUXAT® OTOYQMOELS:
TEAOLVES, KITOLWVOTTQAOLVES, ®ITOLVES, TUOROVAL, RVAVES,
OQUOVQOYOMUES ROL RORKLVES, OYETINA ALYES XOVOES %Ol
oA Aiyeg amd Aevxrd pudouago. Ov Yymeideg tov 2017
Quyltovv 3.767,5 %. To 98% eilval €yyomueg adiapavelg
%o 170 2% elvo xVoES yuaives. Yrohoylotnre OTL OVTL-
TEOOMTEVOUV (iat empdvera 9,13 w.2 adiapaviy €yxomw-
wov Yneidwv rat 0,483 w.2 xovodv. Aslyuwo axd rdbe
amtoyomon €xer 000el Yo ynuIkég avahioeLs.

ZxedOv Oha ta gvpnuoata. elival uixed BpaiouaTo ®ot-
VAV, AITADY, ARCOUNTOY XONOTIROV AYYEIWY RO VAAO-
TWarmy. Zxedov GAo EVIACOOVTIOL 0TV TEQIOO0 AEL-
TOVQYIOC TOV OVYXQOTHUOTOS, dNhadn 1 mod Ty pdon
otov 90-100 awdva xot 1 TeAr) @Aaon oto deVTEQOU
wod Tov 120v — T To wod Tov 14o0v avdva. To evpn-
wato eival eEQLEETIRG ONUAVTIXA, TOQOTL EivaL axdun
ohlydoBua, xobmg AToRAAVITTOVY TOVS TUTOVS YVAAL-
VOV AVTIXEWEVDY O XONoN 0TV TepLoyn s Kmvota-
VIWOUTTOANS TOVS aldves avtovs. EmumAéov, apuetd
omd ta evoHuaTe dLaBETouy oaP AVOOoRAPLRA OUWL-
poaltdueva, yeyovog apretd omdvio yia ™) Bulovtivi
Kwvotavtivovmohn. TéLog, mooxreltal Yo nio amwd Tig
TOWDTEC CVOTNUATIXES OVOLORAPES, GTTOV GACL TO YUGAAL-
vo gvpnuate evog otafepd ¥0VOAOYNUEVOY TUYRQO-
TMratog ™S evevtepns meployxng e Kwvotaviivou-
ToANng uehet@vrtor ovupdilovtog otov TEOCd0QLoNS
TOV —AYVOOTOV ROTd T GANO— YUAAVOV OVTURELLE-
VOV TOV ¥ONOWOTOLOVVTAY OE LOVY, OTNV TEQLOYT TNG
Bulavtiviic TpwTevovoac.
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